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			PREFACE

			The greater the state, the more wrong and cruel its patriotism, and the greater is the sum of suffering upon which its power is founded. 

			—Leo Tolstoy 

			Facts matter, names matter, the sequence of events matters, the memory of crimes and crime scenes matters. In 2008, this book represented a significant effort to remember some of these things as regards recent Russian history. The crimes it details continue to resonate in that country and beyond it. Opposition leaders and independent journalists there continue to be threatened, imprisoned, murdered, or otherwise undermined. It does not appear likely that this situation will change for the better any time soon.

			Those who have bothered to pay any attention at all to the state and business elite’s orchestrated murders and other efforts to muzzle public disclosure and dissent regarding the functioning of the government and economy of Russia since the collapse of the U.S.S.R.—and especially since the coalescing of political power in the hands of Vladimir Putin and his allies starting in 2000— are well aware of the fact that the generally positive attitude of the Russian government toward certain politically-loyal oligarchs has gradually allowed a takeover of federal and state politics by a select group of business monopolies in that country. Those who privately control significant amounts of natural resources and the regions in which they are found, yet dutifully pay obeisance in the form of taxes and political non-interference to the central governing machine, are generally afforded the right to operate more or less as they please. An additional aspect of this quid pro quo arrangement has gradually permitted members of the government hierarchy to gain control of some large businesses and thereby further centralise the political system and reinforce a form of state capitalism. 

			As long as oligarchs do not use their political clout against Putin, and abstain from criticising government corruption, their right to privately own and run their businesses as they see fit is respected. In these cases, a blind eye is turned to financial irregularities and environmental damage. The state protects the favoured oligarchs by silencing public criticism of their ruthless operating methods, and the oligarchs protect the state by helping to silence criticism of its ruthless operating methods. Putin, while pretending, in order to gain public approval, to expropriate oligarchs (albeit exclusively those who’d shown they were not going to be unswervingly loyal to him, like Gusinsky, Berezovsky, and Khodorkovsky) when he came to power, has in truth selectively increased the power of the oligarchy. Everyone else in Russia, whether rich or poor, seems to be on his or her own economically, politically, and physically. The lessons that can be gleaned from this book will continue to serve as warnings as to how corrupted and brutally lawless the government of Russia, the United States, or of any other nation can become.

			

			

			Venice, California

			April 2017 

		

	
		
			Alix Lambert

			INTRODUCTION

			The importance of the free press rarely demonstrates itself as vividly as it did during those early dark hours of Monday, August 19th, 1991, in Moscow.

			—The Coup: Underground Moscow Newspapers

			On August 19th, 1991, a group calling themselves the State Committee on the State of Emergency made an attempt to overthrow Mikhail Gorbachev, triggering the collapse of the USSR. The committee dispatched troops to key positions around Moscow, shut down all independent media outposts, banned all non-Communist political organizations, and proclaimed a state of emergency. However, they had underestimated the changes that had taken place in Soviet mass media since 1985. Ann Cooper, former executive director of the Committee to Protect Journalists (CPJ) and currently the director of the broadcast department at the Columbia School of Journalism, was present for the coup, reporting from Moscow on National Public Radio. What she witnessed and reported on was world changing.

			I arrived in Moscow in December of 1986 and everything was still very much under the control of the state and the Communist Party. But Mikhail Gorbachev had taken power as Communist Party General Secretary, and under his new policies of glasnost and perestroika, pretty quickly you began to see a loosening up in the press. For awhile Gorbachev controlled the degree of freedom, but within months, things really started to snowball and it was obvious that what journalists were doing was pursuing a lot of topics that were not necessarily to the Kremlin’s liking. Clearly they were trailblazing. They were opening up topics that had been taboo, naming names that hadn’t appeared in the press for decades, and starting to practice independent journalism. So that by the time of August 1991 when there was a coup attempt against Gorbachev, the journalists were feeling pretty bold. They were also seeing in this coup attempt the end of everything that was allowing them to be real journalists, so they had a personal stake in the outcome. And they stood up, quite a few of them, against the coup. They played a crucial and courageous role, using the airwaves and their newspapers to tell people what was really going on, calling the action—live, on TV—a “state coup.” And all of that played a very important role in emboldening those who resisted the coup. Ultimately, the resistors succeeded. The communist coup leaders failed, and Gorbachev returned to power—for awhile. 

			When have we ever had such a graphic lesson in how important independent journalism is? People were getting the message that there was opposition. The aftermath of that was this incredible euphoria, and communism fell. There were a few years of increasingly independent and strong journalism. You had state- and party-controlled media that suddenly didn’t have the coffers of the Communist Party there to subsidize them. Things fairly quickly got complicated. One of the problems that was exposed was: where is the money to publish or broadcast going to come from? There wasn’t really any advertising, nothing that could sustain good-quality journalism. You began to see the rise of the oligarchs and the oligarchs buying up media or creating their own media. NTV was a great television station and very independent, but when it came to politics the station reflected the thinking of its owner, Vladimir Gusinsky. Other media outlets struggled for money, and journalists would go for months without being paid, and so this practice began of accepting bribes to go write a story. Journalists would say, “Well what else can I do? I have to feed my family. So if somebody offers me 100 bucks to write a nice story about their business, I have to do it. Gradually, in the 1990s, journalism became compromised by both these owners, who have particular points of view that they want to disseminate through the media, and by the dire financial situation.

			Russian journalists really didn’t seem to understand how they were compromising themselves. They came out of that 1996 presidential election—when the press very openly supported Yeltsin’s reelection—extremely compromised. Just a few years earlier they had been great heroes, but the public trust in them was eroded. By the time President Putin came to power at the very end of 1999, it was pretty easy for him to start reining in the press. As Putin cracked down, bringing broadcast media under Kremlin control and instituting restrictions on all media, the public did not stand up in protest, as they might have in August of 1991. At the beginning of Putin’s tenure, he went after NTV, which was hugely important because of its reach across much of the country. He did it in a very clever way: it was administrative, it was bureaucratic. At the same time, Putin could allow some independent media to continue operating, but they just didn’t have nearly the reach and influence of NTV. He really has managed over these last several years to bring broadcast news back under Kremlin control and to allow only a handful of independent print media to continue operating so he can claim, “Yes, there is independent news.” 

			The murders are another issue. They’re an element of the climate surrounding freedom of the press. In Russia and in other countries, the government is ultimately responsible for security—it’s responsible for investigating crimes, including murder, and including the murder of journalists. And what we’ve seen when a journalist is killed is lack of investigation or bad investigations or not very vigorous investigations, and thus people don’t end up getting punished for these crimes, and the message goes out that you can kill a journalist and get away with murder.  That’s true in Russia today, and the Kremlin has to bear some responsibility for that. At the root of the problem is the lack of justice. There is a lack of will, a lack of concern that the murder of one journalist casts a pall over press freedom for all journalists. You could certainly say, if you were the leader of Russia, that we need a strong independent press and that this string of unsolved murders undermines the ability of the press to do their jobs, so we really have to redouble our efforts here and go back over these cases and have some meaningful prosecutions. But that’s not being said at all by Putin—in fact, rather the opposite. That’s because freedom of the press is really not a priority right now, for Putin, or unfortunately, for the Russian public.

			

			Things do change over time. The balance always shifts. 

			It may take some time. You want to have that record out there, 

			you want to keep talking about it.

				—Ann Cooper
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			The images in this book are of murder sites. They are about absence: what’s not there, what has happened there, what might still happen there, what lies just around the corner, over the horizon, on the other side of the road. They are about possibility, loss, death, pain, passion, and they are also about hope. The interviews that accompany them are personal accounts—memories, thoughts, and feelings about the six journalists who lost their lives in these places—from those who knew them, worked with them, loved them, admired them, and needed them.

			The six murders addressed here are, unfortunately, a very small representation of the multitude of journalists—not only in Russia, but worldwide—who have had their lives taken from them for what they believe in and whose cases remain unsolved. These few speak for many. 
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			Oleg Panfilov

			

			Oleg Panfilov is head of the Center for Journalism in Extreme Situations.

			We created the Center in February of 2000; before that it was a subdivision of the Glasnost Defense Foundation. We are part of the Journalists’ Union of Russia—we are not a legal entity as such and not a separate organization. I worked at the Glasnost Defense Foundation, and before that I headed the Moscow office of the CPJ.1 I’ve been monitoring journalists’ rights violations for the last fifteen years. That is our primary project—to watch what’s happening to journalists not just in Russia, but everywhere in the post-Soviet territories.

			
				1 Committee to Protect Journalists. 

			

			Like any other “espionage” organization, we collect information from public sources. This includes the media, the Internet, and notification from NGOs2 and human rights organizations. We also use reports from our correspondents, some of whom work in Russia and each of the CIS3 countries, including the unrecognized territories of Abkhazia, Karabakh, and Pridnestrovie. We process and distribute all the information that we receive. We have a website, which is the most popular NGO website on the Russian Internet and the chief source of information about our activities. Our news feed is received by more than 5,000 subscribers all over the world. We process the information and compile weekly and monthly reports. For the most part, this information goes to international organizations. Most of our work involves collecting data rather than just cataloging violations of journalists’ rights. We monitor Russian TV channels to see which aspects of our political life are covered on television. 

			
				2 Nongovernmental organizations.

				
					3 Commonwealth of Independent States.

				

			

			We haven’t received a cent from Russia—that’s a matter of principle for us. We receive funding from a number of foundations, first and foremost from the Soros Foundation and the National Endowment for Democracy. Funding also comes from the governments of various countries: Norway, Germany, Switzerland, Great Britain; from UNESCO, which is financing several of our projects; and from the Organization for Security and Cooperation in Europe (OSCE). With the help of this money, we keep our independence. 

			The post-Soviet environment is traditionally authoritarian, so there is really no freedom of speech. Georgia is closer to free speech, because its legislation prohibits state-run media: they don’t have a single government-run TV network or newspaper. The Georgian media’s problems are economic. The Ukraine, unfortunately, still has state television and newspapers. For the situation to improve, changes are necessary. Whether a post-Soviet region has freedom of speech or not depends on the attitude held by its president or head of state toward the necessity of an independent press. For example, Turkmenbashi4 believed it wasn’t necessary, so Turkmenistan never had an independent newspaper. The same is true for Russia. Wherever the heads of local government realize that at least some independent media must exist, those regions have it. If they are against its existence—as is, for instance, the case in Bashkiria and Kalmykia—there is no free press. 

			
				4 Saparmurat Niyazov, former president of Turkmenistan.

			

			There are two types of journalism in Russia: one is “Moscow journalism,” and the other is regional, or provincial journalism. Seven years ago, before President Putin, this difference was clearly visible. The Moscow press was more free and better funded, and to some extent the press appreciated its own responsibility. Now the situation is reversed. The Moscow press is still better funded, but many journalists remain in the outer regions of Russia, and there are newspapers and television stations in those areas where it’s a lot easier to be a journalist. In Moscow everything has been divvied up. The journalists know their place and know the danger of deviating from propaganda. There are, however, still some journalists in Russia who are trying to maintain their independence. 

			There has never been any tradition of free speech or a free press in this country. The first law pertaining to these issues appeared in December 1990, and it was President Gorbachev’s initiative. The first Russian law appeared in 1991.5 It’s absurd to believe that quality modern journalism could have appeared in Russia over these past sixteen or seventeen years. That’s why, whenever Western experts ask me to what degree we enjoy freedom of the press, I always say, “We have to talk in terms of degrees of ‘non-freedom’ of the press.” So long as a state-run press still exists in Russia and most countries of the former USSR, freedom of speech is out of the question. I see another, very similar problem: there was never good journalism education in Russia, in terms of the education provided by the journalism departments at our universities. Students graduated with a degree in “mass media and propaganda”; they studied Western and Russian literature for five years and maybe knew Dostoyevsky and Shakespeare very well, but they had absolutely no idea what modern journalism was. 

			
				5 Following the dissolution of the Soviet Union in December of 1991.

			

			When Gorbachev established glasnost and perestroika in 1987, he did the right thing. He let people experience at least some degree of freedom. But he failed to explain to Soviet journalists that freedom doesn’t come without cost. That’s why, when we try to explain to journalists in Russia or the CIS that you shouldn’t just be observers but must fight for your rights, they don’t understand. These traditions did exist in Poland: even during General Jaruzelski’s military regime there were more than 300 underground newspapers. There was nothing like that in the post-Soviet world. It’s a pretty sad situation. For nine years, during Yeltsin’s time, some favorable conditions existed for establishing quality modern journalism, but after Putin came to power—when he started reestablishing Soviet propaganda traditions and hidden censorship—journalists stopped resisting. The one and only protest in defense of NTV6 in 2001 was just a small step toward fighting for journalists’ rights.

			
				6 A major Russian television network that came under forcible government control in 2001.

			

			About 70 percent of Russian journalists are people who were educated and worked in Soviet times. There’s a new generation of journalists, but they’ve had the exact same education, which hasn’t changed. I teach at Moscow University, and I’m appalled at what I see. I’ve got students from other universities working there, and I see how they change. When they first come, they’re blue-eyed kittens; they’re surprised by everything. All our students monitor the news, and at first they don’t get it. We tell them, “Here’s a stopwatch. Measure how many seconds were spent talking about Putin and how many seconds he actually spoke. That’s what ‘monitoring’ means.” After about two months, they understand and are horrified by some things that they had no idea even existed before. Up to 93 percent of all prime-time news is Putin, the government, and United Russia.7 These are last year’s statistics. The April figure was 91 percent, and by the end of the year we got to 93 percent. One can assume that the restoration of Soviet propaganda is moving full speed ahead. In Soviet times they used to tell this joke: “And now the news. Five minutes about Brezhnev and two minutes about the weather.” 

			
				7 The leading political party.

			

			When Vladimir Putin was appointed Prime Minister in August 1999, it was already assumed that he would work on the reconstruction of Chechnya. In November 1999, after the unrest in Dagestan had taken place and was spreading to Chechnya, Putin brought back an old Soviet tradition: he gathered all the editors in chief of all the major newspapers and TV networks, and he explained to them what the essence of an all-consuming love for the state really is. From that point on, the state policy toward the media changed abruptly. In September 2000 Putin signed a rather strange document entitled “The Doctrine of Information Security.” In this thirty-six-page document, the term “freedom of speech” is referred to only two or three times, yet terms such as “informational war” and “informational weapon” are mentioned dozens of times. The document pretty clearly states the following: the power of the state will support the development of state media, so that society appreciates its power. I am paraphrasing roughly. It’s not a legal document; it’s a pile of paper, not subject to mandatory implementation, but all the government functionaries interpreted it as an action plan. And not only did the information arena start to radically change, but afterward the government started taking all the national TV networks under its control, as it did with NTV in 2001. REN TV is “flying solo,” but no one pays much attention to it because it’s decimetric, which means less than half of the population watches it. The same is true for Echo Moskvi,8 which no more than three million listeners across Russia. The government realized a long time ago that TV is influential because that’s where more than 90 percent of the population gets its information. It’s also free, because there’s no special television tax, so if a person wants to find something out, it’s easier to switch on the TV than to buy a newspaper. In the provinces, a newspaper costs as much as a loaf of bread. Under the current living conditions, people choose television. 

			
				8 A progressive radio station.

			

			The newspapers are in a better situation—they’re more liberal, more daring. If one were to objectively analyze what’s shown on TV versus what’s written in the papers, there would appear to be two utterly different media, as if from two different countries. And the regional newspapers can sometimes be even more daring than those in Moscow. 

			Whenever an important event occurred, like the tragedy in Beslan, we would issue a report. We’d briefly monitor news reporting for a period of several days to understand how Beslan was being covered in the regional press. Sometimes the local newspapers’ commentary was much more courageous than Moscow’s. It doesn’t mean that those papers are always more liberal, but these sporadic outbursts of honest reporting do sometimes occur. There are a couple of free-spoken newspapers in Nizhny Novgorod and Yekaterinburg, but these regional newspapers have a circulation of five hundred; they don’t have much impact. In terms of newspapers, I read Kommersant, Novaya Gazeta, Noviye Izvestia, and Vremya Novostei. None of the rest are terribly informative. As for magazines, I read Ogonyok and Kommersant-Vlast. And I’ve got Echo Moskvi on the radio all day long. In the morning I watch EuroNews, and I also watch NTV out of habit. I watch EuroNews because I want to know not just about Russia, but also about what’s happening in the rest of the world. Have you noticed that international journalism in Russia is a complete disaster? 

			It’s a problem of both audience and propaganda. I think that the government is not interested in Russian people reading objective news about the West—Putin has very promptly restored anti-Western attitudes. Once we put together a report on how the Russian press covered the start of military operations in Yugoslavia. It was hair-raising, a complete outrage. This was “international reporting” by journalists who had never been to Yugoslavia. They were either forbidden from mentioning Milosevic or it didn’t occur to them to report who he was or what he had done to his country starting in 1991, which is why Yugoslavia ended up being split into several countries and why a bloody war ensued. I think to this day our citizens don’t comprehend the unbelievable scale of that genocide. They don’t know because journalists don’t tell them about it. And yet the journalists took great pleasure in describing NATO’s atrocities. 

			When journalists come to us with their problems, we advise them about what they should do. Russia has codes of civil procedure and criminal procedure; there are ways to protect your rights. We explain to the journalists that no one—whether Reporters Without Borders, the OSCE, or the UN—will defend the rights of an individual as long as there are opportunities for that person to defend his or her own rights. Only after he or she exhausts all available avenues will the European Court of Human Rights intervene on his or her behalf. Since Putin came to power, a very large number of criminal cases have been filed against journalists, which was never the case during Yeltsin’s time. We register more than fifty criminal cases a year. As an international organization, we believe that a journalist may be held responsible for his or her unprofessional conduct, but only financially. Russian criminal law contains two articles under which journalists can receive a prison sentence: libel and defamation of a public official. We have always maintained that these two articles must be removed. Our bureaucrats have really been let loose since Putin’s rise to power, and they would gladly throw in jail all the journalists they find disagreeable. That’s why numerous trials are taking place right now, which journalists are losing because they lack courage, knowledge, and money. We have a special fund to cover attorneys’ fees for journalists who come to us for help. We have already covered legal fees in three trials and have won one of them. 

			For the most part, journalists’ problems are associated with their ignorance of legal matters. It’s a paradox: technically, all the necessary conditions for creating quality modern journalism exist here in Russia, but the education of journalists is still on the Soviet level. The educational process in European universities is very different. There, journalism is taught by journalists, and at the Denmark School of Journalism, for instance, 50 percent of students’ time is dedicated to the study of law. In Russian universities only seventy-two hours are devoted to the study of law, just as under the old Soviet educational system. This is why our journalists are legally illiterate. They don’t even know what to do in the most common of all situations, when an official refuses to provide information. There’s procedural law that addresses that: if an official fails to provide information, he can be punished. But you need to know that. 

			There’s another serious problem, and this is a criticism of the West. When the first grants to support the independent press appeared here about seventeen years ago, they were given in the name of freedom of speech. Russian journalists quickly realized that talking about freedom of the press is much easier than fighting for it. That’s why Russian journalists often participate in battles of public opinion and write articles for profit. They are fairly frequently “engaged” to promote some agenda. Of all the criminal cases that we’re been monitoring and for which we are covering legal fees, the majority deal with journalists who’ve participated in such information wars. So far we haven’t been able to do anything about them. We still believe that even journalists who take part in the information wars shouldn’t go to jail. Otherwise, if our officials were given free rein, they’d start throwing everyone in jail, including regular journalists. 

			We have a special website, an enormous database with information on all the reporters who have been killed. How Anna Politkovskaya’s murder was covered by the press is not the issue—the state press protected the president. Although I’m not certain he personally ordered Politkovskaya’s murder, I blame him for creating a general atmosphere of hatred toward journalists like her. If that weren’t true, more people would have joined the sparsely attended rallies and demonstrations held in her memory. It would be like what the French did one hundred days after her murder: they staged an enormous demonstration in Paris. But our state propaganda leverages information to its own advantage and convinces people that journalists like Politkovskaya—and Babitsky before her—are enemies of Russia. This is exactly what Putin started to do back in 1999: he very clearly divided society into people who support him and those who don’t. OMON9 was created for those who don’t support him; it’s doing a great job “setting things straight” in St. Petersburg and Nizhny Novgorod.10 There are propagandists, and then there are “riffraff” like Politkovskaya, Babitsky, and about a hundred other journalists. 

			
				9 Otryad militsii osobogo naznacheniya, riot squads.

				
					10 A reference to a crackdown on dissenters which recently took place in these two cities. 

				

			

			I think that as we get closer to the election, the situation will deteriorate. I can’t predict how, exactly. We’re about to launch a new project, funded by the American Embassy, which will monitor the Internet to see if freedom of speech is suppressed online. We’ve already seen it happen: three times people have been prosecuted simply for expressing opinions in online forums in the Altai region, in Khakassia, and in the Vladimir region; officials traced them through their online nicknames and IP addresses, and off they went to court. The Vladimir trial is underway, in Altai the case was won, and in Khakassia the court is forcing the website to register as a form of media—there are no laws in Russia obligating websites to register as media outlets.
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			Ilya Politkovsky

			

			Ilya Politkovsky is Anna Politkovskaya’s son.

			My grandfather served in the UN; he died two weeks before my mother did. He worked at the Russian Mission to the UN for eleven years and was an honored employee with a number of commendations. My mother was born in the United States. She lived there the first three years of her life.

			Both my grandparents came from humble beginnings. My grandfather was educated in Russia and started his career at the Ministry of Foreign Affairs. My grandmother, a housewife, was with him every step of the way. My mother has an older sister.

			Her family atmosphere had a formative influence on my mother: my grandparents were people of great warmth and kindness, unblemished by the times. Compared to them, I’m more of a modern man. I think this laid a foundation for my mother’s character and her attitude to life. 

			It wasn’t common for our family to discuss politics, but certain family members did: my mother and my grandfather, and my mother and I. My grandmother listens to the news, but that’s about it. My sister Vera is one of these people who rarely watches television; she prefers a good movie. She is apolitical. I’ve been quite interested in politics. I lived in England from 1995 to 2001, first as a student, and later I worked there as well. I’ve always been interested in what was happening in Russia.

			My mother would sometimes discuss her work with me, but never with my sister. As far as I know, she didn’t burden others with her own concerns. I was actually interested in that kind of discussion, and so was she.

			My mother was an absolutely ordinary person. She was a very kind person, on the one hand, but she could also be very tough. She made me study music, for example. I never considered myself a musician; I never liked it. Still, my mother and my teachers believed that I had talent. I studied the violin at the Central Musical School, and later the viola. My sister graduated from the Central Musical School as a violinist and went on to study at the Moscow Conservatory. 

			We would spend the summer in the Crimea because my grandparents on my mother’s side are Ukrainians. My mother loved to read, loved her summer cottage, loved her dog. She even wrote about her dog in the newspaper—he was a bloodhound, a huge brown dog. She only read the classics, nothing contemporary. She read Lyudmila Ulitskaya. We had a talk about it once: Ulitskaya was the only modern writer she could read. She had a set circle of friends. She had two best friends from childhood, Masha and Lena, and those relationships were basically all she needed. She was also very close to her sister Elena. Because my mother’s family traveled abroad, you could say that they belonged to the Soviet elite, and yet they were extremely unassuming people.

			My mother was first and foremost a journalist. Her top priority was always to convey information to the public. By virtue of her work she was helping people, which meant being a human rights activist. Her book, which is about to be published, devotes only one chapter of seven to Chechnya. We wanted to show that she was interested in topics other than the problems in Chechnya. Take the army, for instance: that’s a vast topic. The routine brutality against new recruits—she traveled all over Russia and wrote about it, yet that often goes unnoticed. Her work had far more impact abroad than it did in Russia, there’s no doubt about it. She was constantly giving lectures, publishing books, writing columns in Western publications, attending human rights conferences. Her writing on Chechnya was very sharp, far sharper than the prevalent public opinion, especially public opinion abroad. Bullying of recruits in the military by other recruits exists in every country, but a problem-ridden region like Chechnya doesn’t exist anywhere else in the world. That’s why this particular subject was so important. 

			I was in England when she started working at Novaya Gazeta. As far as I can remember, she went there because of Dmitri Muradov, the editor in chief, whom she knew; she expressly wanted to work at his newspaper. Apart from routine problems, she was never dissatisfied with her work. They had heated arguments at the editorial offices, but that’s par for the course.
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			She wasn’t worried before her trips to Chechnya—just the opposite. She couldn’t lie at all, but she would try and conceal her trips to Chechnya. She’d say, “I’m going on a business trip,” and she’d only tell you where she was going if you asked her point blank. During the investigation, when I was asked to recall all her trips within the past six months, I couldn’t answer, because I didn’t know where she went, even on her last trip. It was impossible to keep track of her every step. She would often be gone for a day or two. She’d leave her itinerary at the newspaper. Giving it to us would’ve been pointless; we wouldn’t have been able to figure it out anyway. People such as Viacheslav Izmailov and Dmitri Muradov knew all the passwords, meeting places, and phone numbers. She certainly took precautions to protect herself. She had a circle of trusted people in Chechnya, people who were seriously in her debt—not financially, but ethically—people she had helped. Once she told me, “I’m much safer in Chechnya than in Moscow.” They are a very particular kind of people, and they had a special devotion to her. I’ve heard certain stories that surprised me. Over there, if a person is devoted to you it has an entirely different meaning than what we are accustomed to in the context of modern life. 

			When you were in Chechnya, you couldn’t spend two nights at the same place; there was constant movement. Everything had to be properly organized with the right people.They could refuse to let someone in their house, and they knew how to say the right thing. She had reliable people who she trusted to set it all up for her. She’d always say, “I don’t have problems like that down there at all.” She’d joke, “On the contrary, people compete to help me out. If I don’t spend a night at their place, their feelings are hurt.”

			When I asked, “Mom, what are you doing in Chechnya? There’s fighting going on there,” she said, “You don’t understand. I don’t show up in places where there is shooting. I never go up to the mountains, and what would I, a woman, do up there anyway? I’m occupied with completely different things. Up there in the mountains, it’s the law of the jungle. Down here, people are the same, just like everywhere else.” She said, “Our media makes it sound like Ramzan Kadyrov has unlimited power. He does have enormous strength and is very aggressive, but force and power are two different things. Respect is what really matters. A lot of people who are extremely helpful to me are so trustworthy and so influential there that there’s no chance of anything bad happening to me.”
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			In the months before she was killed, she was completely absorbed in preparations for the birth of her granddaughter. Everything was pretty quiet, to the extent that it could be with my mother: mind you, there were always threats directed at her. There were many disgruntled people, yet for the most part she didn’t pay any attention to them. Her position was, “Everything that I know, I publish.” There were anonymous threats; they’d come in the form of emails, phone calls, or packages passed on through other people.

			As far as our current government, I’m uncomfortable with a lot of things. When I discussed this with my mother, I never went to extremes. I never said categorically that I disliked absolutely everything. Censorship of the press, for example, I think is simply appalling and wrong, plus this is also connected to my own work in public relations. Despite all the talk of free press, objectively speaking, apart from Novaya Gazeta there isn’t a single other Russian publication where stories of the kind that my mother wrote can be printed.

			She had good cause to be an uncompromising critic of the authorities. I don’t in any way refute her position. Her book, titled A Russian Diary, is about to be published in English. I consider it my mother’s best work. In it, over a period of about six months she comments on events that take place around her, starting with the assassination of journalist Paul Klebnikov. There are no articles in the book, just short passages. Her stance toward the authorities changed, becoming harsher with time because of Nord-Ost1 and Beslan and the increasing influence of Ramzan Kadyrov’s bloody regime. On that account, one would have to be an idiot not to agree with her.

			
				1 Reference to the siege of Moscow’s Dubrovka Theatre by Chechen terrorists on October 23, 2002, which resulted in the death of 130 hostages. 

			

			I have a very vivid memory of our discussion of Putin when he first came to power. I said that he seemed better than Yeltsin, overall. And she answered, “He is in the Federal Security Service; I’m suspicious of him.” His subsequent actions led to an even more negative assessment. She’d tell me, “If only you knew everything I know, you’d think the same way.”

			Right now, no one covers Chechnya the way she did. And I hope that the editorial office that now bears her name will continue on with her work.
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			Paul Steiger

			

			The Committee to Protect Journalists (CPJ), which I chair, felt it was important to make a mission to Russia early in 2007. In the six years that President Putin had been in office thirteen journalists were killed “hit style,” and none of the cases had been solved. There’s a rising climate of impunity regarding the murder of journalists in a number of countries around the world, including, prominently, Russia. It’s appalling. 

			There is an irony here. All kinds of positive things are now coming together for Russia, certainly economically, and so it no longer has to worry about its survival as a nation as it might have a few years ago. However, one of the hallmarks of a civilized society is that people can say things and write things without having to worry about their physical safety. I think it is of benefit not just to journalists, but to a country as a whole if people can write what they learn and express their beliefs safely: it’s one of the ways people make informed decisions and understand their world. 

			That’s why we made the trip in 2007. I went, along with Joel Simon, who is CPJ’s executive director, and Norman Pearlstine, the former editor in chief of Time Inc., who is a CPJ board member; some key staffers also went. At first, the Russian government wasn’t going to have anybody meet with us. Then they changed their minds. The fact that the chancellor of Germany—who cares about this issue—happened to be coming that weekend to visit President Putin may have been a factor.
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			Our main focus was on the murder the previous October of Anna Politkovskaya, perhaps the most famous print journalist in all of Russia. She had written many articles critical of the Putin government, of the Russian military, and of certain moneyed interests, all in relation to the strife in Chechnya. We met with her editor and with friends and family members. 

			One of the government agencies with which we met told us that officials had opened a new front in the investigation into Politkovskaya’s murder. We announced this in a press conference, and then the guys who told us this denied they had said it. They didn’t deny it was true, just that they had said it. So you had the interesting phenomenon of the managing editor of the Wall Street Journal and the former editor in chief of Time Inc. publications in the room, along with top staff members of CPJ, and we all supposedly misheard what they told us. In any event, what we said got some broad attention, both in Russia and around the world, because it showed people that the world cared about Anna Politkovskaya. I was pleased to hear shortly afterwards that President Putin made some remarks in which he talked about Politkovskaya’s importance as a journalist. He waited until three days after her murder to say anything publicly, and then he said that her journalism wasn’t very important—he regretted her death as a mother, of course, but not the loss of her journalism. I regret her death as a mother too, but she was one of the most renowned journalists in the world and certainly one of the most renowned journalists in Russia, so it was good to hear that after we made a fuss about the investigation into her murder President Putin said positive things about her journalism.

			I think that people who use terror as a weapon have learned that murders of scale—large numbers of people—and murders of prominent people, including murders of journalists, get major coverage, and that’s what they are looking for. We’ve gone from an environment in which people view journalists as communicators to seeing journalists becoming targets: one way to get a message across is by killing them. Society has a huge stake in reversing this trend.
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			Peter Klebnikov

			Peter Klebnikov is Paul Klebnikov’s brother.

			Paul was precocious growing up. He was a lot of fun to have as a younger brother because he would never refuse a mission. One typical episode occurred when we were up at my father’s farmhouse near Albany. On the grounds of that farmhouse are the remains of an Indian graveyard. It was late afternoon in early winter; Paul was about seven. We had no TV, so we would create all these fantasies, and one of them involved Chief Red Feather, who was trying to communicate to Paul and give him courage. We had him go up to the Indian graves just as the moon was rising and look through the gravestones and the holes in the earth there to find a tomahawk that had been sent to him by Red Feather. He went out there and climbed that hill through the snow and stayed there as the moon rose, and he found the tomahawk; then it got dark, and he got lost in the woods. We were probably twelve, so we didn’t get too worried about him. He sat down and plotted his return with nobody’s help, and he found his way out of the forest and down the hill to reach home. He was not at all nonplussed and proudly displayed the tomahawk as he walked through the doorway long past his bedtime. We caught hell from our parents for corrupting him. 

			He was adventurous from an early age. Once he ran off. He tied himself a bundle—a napkin full of crackers and cookies—and hooked it onto a stick and walked through the fields. He didn’t get very far, only to the river, where he discovered some migrant workers catching crabs. He became fascinated by this and sat down and watched until we found him. 

			When he got older, he delighted in confounding expectations. He was not afraid of ridicule. He went to Exeter and was elected class president. His main mission seemed to be to get his classmates into political activism. His tenure there was marked by tremendous experimentation: he pushed the envelope, inspiring others to protest apartheid, nuclear power, things like that. He wanted to increase everyone’s store of experience and prepare them for life. During summer vacation when he was seventeen, he applied to the Soviet Embassy to get a visa to go build the Baikal Amur Railroad, known as BAM. This was a project that involved building a railroad through the pestilential swamps of Siberia, and much of the work was done by convicts. When he informed the Soviet authorities of his plans, they refused him the visa and suggested that he seek psychiatric counseling instead. 

			He was always fascinated with Russia. Our family comes from the service gentry who over the years worked to modernize Russia. There was an ancestor of whom Paul was very proud, Ivan Ivanovich Pushchin, who is well known to schoolkids in Russia as one of the leading Decembrists in the uprising in the early nineteenth century against the Tsar’s autocratic rule. For his part in that uprising, he was exiled to Siberia. Paul was fascinated by that. He saw himself as a modern exemplar to improve society, no matter what the cost. He was passionately anticommunist, but he also admired many of the achievements of communism, such as its industrial transformation. He could hold contrary opinions and make a good argument for both.

			He studied Russian in high school and college. Our family was very rigorous about imparting knowledge of the country’s history and the best of its culture and literature: we’d have Russian lessons every day, taught by a strict but wonderfully educated grandmother. Religion was a big part of it, because to a certain degree, that’s what kept the culture alive. When Gorbachev came to power, Paul was the first person in the family to visit Russia. He went as a tourist and was followed by not one, but three black sedans. He would engage the KGB in a very polite, businesslike, but devastating way. He knew they had their job to do, so he approached the agents in the sedans and said: “I know you folks are busy and you’re doing such a good job, so I wanted to make your jobs easier.” And then he handed them a written itinerary of his plans for the next few days, along with a pack of cigarettes. They were speechless. 
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			In those idealistic years during perestroika and glasnost, Russia was opening its doors to the West. The country had a lot of questions that needed answering. Paul believed that he could help: he could take the best of what he had learned and give it to the Russians. He’d gone to the best schools and taken summer jobs doing everything from field work in Idaho to pretty serious work on Wall Street, just to get the American experience down as much as possible. He loved Woody Guthrie and the experience of the American road. He wanted to prepare himself to be the best possible emissary of the best things in America. He was a very confident person because of his knowledge of the way Russians think and receive information. He went to college and continued to study Russian. He went to grad school and got his PhD. He told me a couple of times that he thought every person is put on this earth to help, to leave a legacy. He was given an amazing opportunity to help Russia at the right time historically, and he didn’t want to let the chance escape. He was driven and idealistic, but he wasn’t naïve. He was careful—it’s just that he decided early on that the risks were worth it. 

			He was always fascinated by the military, and he joined the Marines. To the amazement of his commanding officer, he graduated from officer candidate school. He continued to maintain that military discipline years later and often slept on the floor; he had an ascetic personality (with the exception of pasta feasts). He was not into money at all and passed up numerous chances to enrich himself tremendously in the early nineties even though he had information on deals that made his friends megamillions. He could have been just like that, but he wanted to be an example for Russians. These people are responding to a vacuum of leadership and moral authority in their communities, even if they aren’t always conscious of it. 

			Paul thought that the quickest way to make changes for the better at the dawn of the twenty-first century was through business journalism. He got himself a job as a junior reporter at Forbes, and with his usual chutzpah he went right up to Malcolm Forbes and said, “Look, I know Russian. Russia is an emerging market, why don’t you send me there?,” and so he talked his way into being sent to Russia; this would have been 1990–91. Beginning reporters are usually kept busy fact-checking or something, but he immediately impressed the staff at Forbes with his journalistic prowess and very unorthodox but creative thinking. He was a rigorous reporter and triple-checked his sources, so even when he came out with outrageous revelations, people found that they were true, and he quickly became influential.  

			He started traveling to Russia more often. I was living there at the time, and I helped him with the initial contacts he used for his book about Boris Berezovsky, The Godfather of the Kremlin. I saw him grow disappointed in the country, because he saw the idealism that blossomed after the fall of communism subverted by the oligarchs, who were grabbing power, running amok, stealing national assets, and impoverishing huge numbers of people. Yeltsin was president, and he was a derisory figure. Paul saw a type of bandit capitalism gain ascendance, and he was appalled. He put himself in a fishbowl: he invited people to see how he lived to show that you could be very successful in your profession and make the world a better place and provide for your family, but not be corrupted by it. He went on television, sometimes on a weekly basis, to talk about the need to provide a counterweight to the gangster class. When he died, on his desk was a portrait of Abraham Lincoln, who he admired for his resilience and discipline and charity and vision. 

			In the mid-nineties he began engaging the richest people in the country, visiting them in their mansions and challenging them. Even though he was confrontational, they respected him, so they granted him interviews that they never granted anybody else. That’s when he identified Berezovsky as the richest man in Russia, and he interviewed him—he wrote a best-selling piece that effectively ruined the guy’s career. He wanted to show that there ought to be accountability and public responsibility. Later on he went to start Forbes Russia, which he worked very hard to launch and get funding for; it is now considered the most independent and important business magazine in Russia. 

			Beginning around 1998 and continuing until his death, the more he felt Russia was going down the wrong path, the more activist he became. He began building alliances with prosecutors, with book editors, with publishing houses, with businesses—you name it. He took increasing risks, both in terms of investigations and in terms of going public on TV. The Russian people, who had seen so many lies over seventy-five years, recognized the real thing, and they started giving him tips. When he started Forbes Russia, he didn’t have to live in Russia. He was very successful in America, and he could have stayed there with his family, but he was an idealist and thought he could improve people’s lives. I think he was killed because he was effective, and in a very real way, the people who killed him wanted to send a message out: “Don’t interfere. Don’t get involved. Mind your own business and you won’t end up like he did.” As Solzhenitsyn said, “He died for the truth.” 
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			He was reporting about real estate, about the theft of Chechen reconstruction funds. He was investigating Berezovsky and working on a variety of projects that other reporters could not—or would not—touch. He had high-ranking sources, and that’s what made him such a threat to criminals: he became a safe haven for information, which terrifies people with something to hide. One of the first issues of Forbes Russia was an issue on the hundred richest people in Russia, which was completely unheard of. People who were used to being in the shadows were suddenly outed. Unfortunately, freedom of the press is today under threat like it hasn’t been since communist days. 

			He knew it was dangerous work, but he felt that Russia was leaving its violent past behind. He got rid of his bodyguards because he thought that if somebody wanted to off him, they would find a way. He got rid of his driver and took the subway, which he much preferred. He loved being with the people; he felt a part of them. On a typical long workday, he left his office after 9 pm. The day he was killed, it being July it was still light outside. He said goodbye to the guard at the door. As he was crossing the street, he was shot ten times from a car with tinted windows. He collapsed on the sidewalk. His colleague at Newsweek Russia, Sasha Gordeyev, was with him almost instantly. Paul told Sasha that he was having difficulty breathing and said to contact his family and tell them that he was OK. He lost consciousness in the ambulance and died in an elevator at the hospital which became stuck when all these doctors ran in and overloaded it. He wouldn’t have made it, though, even if he had had top Western medical care. 

			Despite promises of swift justice from the highest levels of the Russian government, the prosecution of the two people who allegedly shot Paul has collapsed. There were numerous procedural violations and judicial misconduct and jury manipulation in their trial, and now they have been allowed to escape to the Middle East. It is extremely disheartening that even in such a high-profile case, the Russian justice system does not work. That sends a chilling signal to other criminals, to would-be killers of those who speak the truth: “You can get away with this if you have enough money.” There’s been little progress in identifying the alleged masterminds. 

			We still hold out hope for Russia, because that’s what Paul did. We have to honor his memory. For Paul’s children, we try to maintain the Russian language and its culture, because we don’t want them to grow up hating Russia. We’re going to work, as long as we’re able, to make sure that his legacy endures in Russia, where it’s as relevant today as it was when he was alive.

			The country needs to do its part. It needs to look upon this murder and the cases of other dead journalists as a mirror into its own soul. 
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			Viacheslav Izmailov

			Viacheslav Izmailov is a reporter for Novaya Gazeta.

			I knew Igor well. I was already working there when he started working for the paper. He had spent many years working up north. When he sent in his first piece to Novaya Gazeta, the editor took one look at it and offered him a job; that was in 1998. Around  2000 he bought his Moscow apartment. Only a few families were living in that apartment building, which is near the Bratislavskaya metro station. He was attacked in May 2000.

			Igor was such a talented man. He headed the society desk at the paper. He covered a diverse range of topics. He didn’t do investigative journalism—that wasn’t his thing—but it just so happened that he got assigned to cover events in Lipetsk. He wrote a series of five articles on Lipetsk and the new power structure there. These stories sealed his fate; we all believe that the contract on his life was ordered from Lipetsk.

			He was worried; he saw it coming. He even told me once, “Some people are asking me to do a story, but it’s not my kind of thing.  They have information on abuses of power by police.” At the time I was involved in negotiations for the release of hostages. Igor asked me, “Would it be all right if I put them in touch with you?” I said, “Fine, have them contact me.” I have a clear memory of that conversation.

			I was swamped with work, so I didn’t think about it again until later. You see, there hadn’t been any threats as such—Igor simply had a strong negative reaction to a person’s voice. We now know whose voice it was. It was Gennady Bezuglov, who was second in command in that gang. He had the voice of a thug, of a “brother.”1 When they suggested that Igor meet them and drive somewhere with them, he really didn’t want to go. He asked Elena Milashina, who is now head of his department at the paper, to go with him. She went outside with him, and Igor walked up to the car; at that point the goal of the gangster in charge was to point Igor out to the actual hitmen, Khuzin, Babkov, and Kazakov. All three were from Naberezhnye-Chelny,2 as were Bezuglov and Tagirianov [the gang’s leader], but some of them—like Bezuglov—had already moved to Moscow. Tagirianov instructed Bezuglov to take care of the hit. 

			
				1 Members of a criminal gang are referred to as bratva, meaning “brothers” or “guys.”  

				
					2 Second-largest city in Republic of Tatarstan, Russia.

				

			

			As Elena stood on the street, she couldn’t see the faces inside the car, but she did see the person who got out: Bezuglov. It all happened right across the street from the newspaper office. Later on, Elena recognized Bezuglov’s face in a photograph, and she testified as a witness at the trial. These three men started following Igor. His apartment building was still practically empty. Only three or four families had moved in by that time. Everyone knew each other; they were all in the process of remodeling the new apartments. Once, on her way out of the apartment building, Rita Domnikova, Igor’s wife, saw Khuzin, Igor’s future killer. 

			After Igor was killed, Rita worked at our paper for a time. She’s a philologist by profession. When they lived up north, she worked as a schoolteacher. She quit last year—you know how little we get paid here. Igor’s son, who’s an artist, also works at our paper; he’s about twenty-seven now. Igor and Rita only had one child. Igor had such wonderful parents. We help them out: Igor’s pension goes to them. They visit every year. 

			There was a period in my life when I worked at a local military registration office in Zhukovsky, a town near Moscow. After our withdrawal from East Germany, I had an apartment in Estonia, and it had just become an independent state then, so I got transferred to the greater Moscow military district. From 1992 to 1995 I worked at the recruitment office. When the war in Chechnya broke out, I started publishing articles in the local Zhukovsky newspapers expressing my attitude toward the war. One of my pieces found its way to the editor in chief of Novaya Gazeta, and I was asked to write for them. The article was titled, “I Don’t Want to Recruit for THIS Army.” Then I got sent to Chechnya.

			After the article was published, I got called into the general’s office, and they attempted “to put me in my place” in a “civilized” manner. They couldn’t do it in an “uncivilized” manner, because I was the only Afghan war veteran at that military office. “You’re getting paid to do this job, but you write that you don’t want to recruit for this army? Start taking care of business. If you won’t leave, we’ll transfer you to the mobilization sector.” I didn’t want to go to Chechnya—I had accumulated the required number of years and was about to retire. One of the boys I’d drafted was killed; I made arrangements for his funeral and didn’t want that job anymore. But when they tried to “put in me in my place” like that, I told them, “I don’t want to go into business. I don’t want to be in the mobilization sector. I want to be in the same place where I sent those boys.” It was simply a matter of principle. 
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			I served in Chechnya for more than a year. When I got back, the military was afraid of assigning me any job: “No matter where we put him, he’s going to write that everything is bad.” They kept me on as a contractor attached to a paratrooper regiment stationed in Teply Stan.3 All I did there was collect my pay. Yuri Baturin was chairman of the Defense Council. He told me, “You don’t have to come to work, but since you’re good at getting hostages out, that’s what you’ll be doing.” So while still an officer in the army, I was already doing this work as a civilian.

			
				3 An area of Moscow.

				

			

			 I started working on Igor Domnikov’s case because the people involved in it were the same people that I’d worked with previously to get hostages released. In Igor’s case, a gang of assassins was involved in a series of contract hits on a number of people. In some cases they would kidnap people, demand ransom money, and then kill them anyway, even after we had wire-transferred millions of dollars into their account. I even met personally at our newspaper offices with one of the people who ordered the hits, and I went to Lipetsk to meet with another of them. I had a chance to interact with the gang leader at his trial. This gang of contract killers, headed by Tagirianov, has been on trial since last September. They have committed twenty-two murders and seventy other crimes, including multiple rapes and kidnappings. There are sixteen codefendants, and five of them are suspects in the Domnikov investigation. I testified at the trial as a witness, as did Elena Milashina and Rita Domnikova. 

			We believe that Sergey Dorovskoy, the vice governor of the Lipetsk Region, and Pavel Sopot, a businessman, ordered the hit on Igor. Sopot is a Moscow businessman now, but back then he had ties to business circles in the Lipetsk region. Dorovskoy had passed the job onto Sopot. All the gang members have been Sopot’s friends since childhood. In his defense, Dorovskoy claims that Sopot stopped by while Dorovskoy was reading the issue of the Novaya Gazeta with Igor’s article. Since Sopot lives in Moscow, Dorovskoy asked Sopot to bring Igor from Moscow to Lipetsk in order to show Igor how great things really were there. We refute these arguments by saying that he could simply have made a phone call. We argue that Dorovskoy instructed Sopot to bring Igor over at his own expense. 

			In reality, this is not how it happened. I’ve published a few articles about the case; I’ve been to the Lipetsk Region. What kind of man is Dorovskoy? He was fired from his post as vice governor, but he owns a large meat-processing plant and serves as its CEO. I wrote that his business is connected to criminal activity.

			Igor was an easygoing person. He was deeply devoted to his work and would spend long hours working at his office. As a colleague he was very approachable; the younger guys at the office worshipped him. Everyone had something to learn from him, because he was gifted both as a person and as a journalist.
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			He was a remarkable writer. You could skip over articles written by other people, but never those by Igor. If you read his articles on Lipetsk, you’ll see that although they seriously offend the Lipetsk authorities, they’re also written with effortless style. The person most affected by those publications was probably Dorovskoy, who was in charge of economic and financial affairs in Lipetsk. Prior to that, communists were in charge, but riding on the crest of the new wave, those who came to power were . . . well, it’s inappropriate to call them democrats, because democrats they are not. They simply started looting. And that’s what Igor wrote about. These articles were meant to expose the truth. At the same time, he sought to show the chasm between the way simple folk lived in Lipetsk and how those who were in power lived.
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			Victor Shimarsky

			Victor Shimarsky is Felix Solovyov’s cousin.

			My cousin Felix was born on February 17, 1934, in the magnificent Russian town of Kolomna. He was born into a family of Komsomol activists.1 His father, an ethnic Jew named Iosif Mikhailovich Goberman, was a Kolomna Komsomol leader. They were first Komsomol members, then members of the Communist Party. They were utterly pure of heart and absolutely oblivious to money. Felix used his mother’s last name. 

			
				1 Komsomol: Communist Union of Youth. Komsomol was the youth wing of the Communist Party of the Soviet Union. The organization served as a highly mobile pool of labor and political activism, with the ability to move to areas of high priority at short notice. Active members received privileges and preferences in promotion.

			

			At some point they moved to Moscow. Goberman was the head of the Moscow transportation administration [Moscow Department of Motor Vehicles] his whole life. This organization had the same status as a ministry of one of the Soviet Republics. All city transport was under its jurisdiction. What’s interesting is that, despite being a Jew, he survived the entire Stalin era. The family didn’t suffer. Goberman worked under Stalin, Khrushchev, and Brezhnev. He died “at his post” at the age of eighty. He was a man of enormous energy. What was his secret of political survival? When he died, he left little behind: there was no house in the country, no personal car. All he left was a superb two-bedroom apartment in a great building close to the American Embassy, where Felix and his mother lived until the end. My family lived in that apartment for seven years, too; we all lived there together, and then later my family moved away.

			Felix had tuberculosis; he contracted it before World War II. In all those years Goberman never helped his family. I don’t know why, but there was no support from him whatsoever, financial or otherwise. They established a relationship only after Felix became a person of renown in Moscow. He was over forty years old at that point.

			Felix’s mother’s political views had no impact on her son. Due to the rather inconvenient fact that the American Embassy had been built right next door, there was a good view from their fifth-floor apartment of real Americans in odd-looking jeans riding around in strange-looking cars. That was the first “toxic influence of the West” that must have afflicted Felix’s young soul.

			Maybe that is why he started listening to Voice of America instead of Channel 1 of the State Radio Broadcasting System. He was crazy about jazz and was very well versed in it. He knew all Moscow’s jazz musicians. There’s a photograph of him with Duke Ellington. At first, he and his friend Alexey Kozlov listened to the radio, then they made home “ribs” recordings.2 Naturally, he learned English, on his own—he never cracked open a single book, but he spoke it well. He claimed that he didn’t know any rules of grammar.

			
				2 Forbidden music was literally recorded on discarded medical x-ray films. These were called “ribs” recordings, or recordings on “bones.” 

			

			He went to the Moscow School of Urban Construction Engineering, which later merged with another engineering university. He wasn’t admitted to the army due to his tuberculosis. He smoked and drank his whole life, but always in moderation. 

			In the 1960s he worked with Khrushchev’s wife, as well as at the Danish Embassy. He worked at the Diplomatic Corps Board. Then he got interested in photography and decided to do it on a freelance basis. He worked with Der Spiegel and Stern a lot. In recent years he had his own column in Aeroflot magazine.

			One of the suspected motives for his murder involved his studio on Bolshoy Kozikhinsky Pereulok.3 He was killed right by the building’s entrance, at 8:30 pm, in the center of Moscow. Some kind of fight must have ensued: the newspapers reported that there were two handguns and eight bullets found at the scene. Neighbors heard a conversation. He’d invited Kostya Zimin, his childhood friend, to come over and take some groceries he’d bought earlier that day over to Felix’s mother. Kostya came over around 8 pm, picked up the bags, and took them to Bolshoy Devyatinsky Pereulok. Felix had to be at a photo shoot by 9 pm. His studio was a regular apartment, about a hundred square meters, in a great building. He didn’t have proper documents for it—he could walk into any administration office and charm all the girls there in one second and get whatever he needed resolved right away. He really was a handsome and charming man. Planning things in advance didn’t interest him; it was too boring. That’s why he never filed proper paperwork for his studio. He was a member of the Photographer’s Union, and the studio was the Union’s property. If anyone wanted to take it away, it would have been pretty easy to do so. I think that if someone threatened him, he just didn’t take it seriously.

			
				3 Name of a street in Moscow.
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			He’d been shooting a lot of pictures. He was omnivorous: he took pictures of everything. He worked with foreigners a lot. He shot pictures of all our politicians; he photographed Yeltsin.

			To fire a gun in the center of Moscow at eight o’clock in the evening—you understand the level of people who ordered the hit. It could have been law enforcement, gangsters, politicians. After shots were fired, the police arrived. The first thing they did was go up to the studio and search the entire place. When I went there the next day or the day after, everything had already been searched. Naturally, something could have disappeared during that time. Absolutely anything could have been removed. 

			The last time I saw Felix was on his birthday, on February 17. I had flown in from London—I wouldn’t miss his birthday for anything. We got together at his place: his mother, my mother, Felix, and me. There was no one else. And on the 26th he died.

			It seemed to me that he was somewhat down. He said he wasn’t feeling well and that he had pain everywhere in his body, that he had gotten old—this was first thing in the morning. At night he was truly splendid: his smile, a touch of gray in his magnificent hair, elegant glasses. His lifestyle, in general, was not good for the human body. He did, of course, have some problems. He complained that things weren’t that great.

			He lived rather modestly; he never had anything that I didn’t have. His son Dima had congenital heart disease. Once or twice each year, Dima would spend time in one of Moscow’s best clinics. They did something with his blood there, and that’s where he died at the age of twenty-nine. All those years the boy lived with blue lips and blue fingers. Can you imagine having to bear something like that? He got his college degree in absentia while studying at home. They even moved from the fifth floor to the second floor of the same building because there was no elevator. All Dima was able to do was get dressed and go outside to the courtyard, and when he would come back, he’d already be short of breath, stopping after each flight of stairs. Later on, Felix got married a second time and had two more children.

			Felix had never been out of the country. He started traveling abroad only when everyone else started going. If it was true that he worked for some secret service, he would have taken his son abroad, wouldn’t he? Dima died in 1992.

			In the last years of his life he realized that it wasn’t possible to constantly be in the center of everything that was happening. Naturally, some aches and pains came with age, but he never went to doctors. When his son died, it really did a number on him. Dima was in the hospital as usual; we’d seen him three days earlier. In the evening, he called home—Felix used to record many of their conversations on mini-cassettes—and then he died during the night. Felix took it very hard. After Dima’s death, there was a void in Felix’s life which nothing could fill.
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			Alexey Batashev

			Alexey Batashev is a journalist, a jazz critic, and he was Felix Solovyov’s friend.

			I met Felix before World War II. He lived next door to me. 

			His father was a fairly high-ranking official in Moscow’s government, a well-known superintendent of Moscow’s transportation administration. Felix had a lot of friends, including foreign journalists. When he got into photography, he began submitting his work to magazines, and it was enthusiastically accepted by both American and West German publications. Later it became his profession, as well as his lifestyle.

			He worked for foreign agencies as a photographer, and he was granted access everywhere. His father was a big shot, and Felix was a sly fox, too; he knew how to get stuff done. If  he couldn’t get his way, he never pushed people. He knew how to behave in any situation. 

			Felix was a key figure in Moscow nightlife—there was nightlife in Moscow, even during Soviet times. There were parties, receptions, banquets, various embassies held various events, and they had to be photographed in grand style, with finesse. He had top-of-the-line equipment; he took superb photos. He had a remarkable memory. He traveled in Moscow’s most elite social circles. On one hand this was a good thing, because he was highly informed—not just because of his job, but in general. On the other hand, it was also very dangerous, because he knew things he shouldn’t have known.

			A month or so before his death, his doorbell rang, and a Gypsy woman asked him for a glass of water. When his mother went to the kitchen to get it, another Gypsy sneaked into his room at the other end of the apartment. She broke into his desk and took $20,000. The money didn’t belong to him, and Felix had to pay it back. He was very sad after that.

			They say that one of the motives for his murder could have been the struggle over his studio in the center of Moscow. There were some legal issues around that. Others said he had taken someone’s picture and the person had ordered a hit on him. On the day of his death, his neighbors heard a doorbell ring, and he came out. Two people had come to see him. He was on his way out, about to go to a photo shoot, and they all went downstairs together. They spoke in raised, angry voices for about ten minutes, and then shots were heard.

			The last time I saw him was the day before he died.
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			Dmitri Zakharov

			Dmitri Zakharov, journalist and friend of Vladislav Listyev.

			I met Vladislav a very long time ago, in the early eighties. We worked in radio together: I worked for the department that broadcast to the U.S. and Great Britain, while Vladik1 worked as a general news correspondent. We barely saw each other at work, but we’d have coffee together, we’d go to all kinds of events and parties. Everyone knew one another at 25 Pyatnitskaya Street,2 of course; it was a pretty small organization. Foreign Broadcasting Service was based there. We didn’t become friends right away, but Sasha Liubimov, Dima Kiselev, Misha Osokin, Vladimir Vladimirovich Posner3—we all came from the same office. 

			
				1 Vladik: diminutive form of Vladislav. 

				
					2 Address of the State Radio Service, which broadcast worldwide in a number of languages.  

					
						3 Alexander Liubimov, Dmitri Kisilev, Mikhail Osokin, and Vladimir Posner are acclaimed Russian journalists.

					

				

			

			Vladik was a very social person, which was an important quality to have as a reporter. He was extremely talkative; he could strike up a conversation with absolutely anybody. I guess you could say he had a god-given gift. He was a news reporter—when something happened, he’d grab his stuff and be off on a minute’s notice. 

			He was from a middle-class Soviet family. We’ve got a name for it here in Russia: “raznochinetz.”4 At some point his father worked in Africa and then returned to Moscow. His mother worked as a teacher, I think. He didn’t talk much about his family. Of course, we had some idea; we all came from more or less the same background. 

			
				4 Archaic Russian:  in nineteenth-century Russia, an individual engaged in intellectual work yet not a member of the gentry.  

			

			Tatyana Lyalina was his second wife. They had two kids, but one of his boys died. His second son now works at Ostankino,5 and I have high hopes for him as a professional. 

			
				5 Ostankino Television Center, Moscow.

			

			The TV show Vzglyad emerged sort of spontaneously. I had my own radio show, and I loved doing it: it was a black humor comedy program, which was pretty unusual; it was supposedly even popular in the States. Sasha Liubimov worked at the office of broadcasts for Denmark. One of my colleagues, Andrey Shepilov, had worked in television for a youth-oriented production department, and he was the one who suggested us as potential candidates. I could understand the choice of Vladik, because Andrey had known him really well, and I could understand why Sashka6 was chosen, because he was super-quick and the youngest among us. But I couldn’t quite figure out how I ended up there. I was a bookworm; I’d write scripts and commentary, but I was not a showman in any sense of the word. It seems that in our group of clowns, there had to be a “black sheep” clown. 

			
				6 Sashka: diminutive form for Alexander [Liubimov].

			

			When we started working in radio, we were trained using American methods. A Mayak7  broadcast and broadcasting for the U.S. meant two very different things. We realized that convincing the American people of the great advantages of a socialist lifestyle was pretty unrealistic, to say the least, but to convey to them that we were not morons: now that meant something. We were trying to apply these same methods on Russian soil, and we were pretty successful, in my opinion.

			
				7 Russian State radio channel.

			

			We addressed the psychology of how human beings process information: when and why a person reacts, when and how something should be said, how the message should be framed, etc. If you look at the situation in Russia, information was basically offered in the form of slogans and statements of fact: “Lenin lived, Lenin lives, Lenin will keep living!” A foreign audience would never go for that. And I guess that has ended here, too, to a degree. We started with a basic principle: never draw any conclusions. In other words, let the listeners form their own conclusions. You provide the information and let people decide for themselves. The other important aspect was the show’s pacing: everything had to happen at a fast pace, no lengthy stories. We fought for the segments to be no more than five minutes long. With some effort, we succeeded, but we encountered fairly serious resistance even from our own television colleagues, who worked in accordance with Soviet methods and were always trying to make a two-minute story ten minutes long. The stereotype was, the longer the piece, the better it was supposed to be. In reality, you can basically communicate any story in just about forty seconds. 

			[image: VL_53.tif]

			The control was so intense that from time to time we were called to Staraya Square,8 raked over the coals, and lectured on how to be true patriots. Anatoly Lysenko was the one who was most at risk in this situation, because he was over fifty. “The triumph of communist ideals” could have cost him absolutely everything he had worked for in his life. That’s why we always admired him so much for selflessly fighting for freedom of speech while knowing the whole time that at any second he could be fired, and that the only job he could get after that would be as a street cleaner, at best, which was common during the communist era. It all came at a very high cost. Tolya is a remarkable person.9 He is always smiling—he does everything with a smile, even when he’s trying to do something absolutely undoable. He looks like Winnie-the-Pooh, so it’s hard to imagine that this is a person with a will of steel who’ll fight for his point of view to the end. Plus he’ll do it gently. Other, stronger people would break down where Tolya stood firm. Tolya brought his age, knowledge, and experience to the situation, while we acted out of foolishness, idealism, and stupidity; we thought we were doing something big, something bright and pure. And I guess we did get something accomplished after all.

			
				8 Location of the Central KGB Office.

				
					9 Tolya: diminutive form of Anatoly [Lysenko].

				

			

			Listyev was exactly as he appeared on screen. There wasn’t any type of hidden agenda there. It wasn’t like he was all sweetness and light on camera but pompous and arrogant off camera. You can get a great sense of this man by something he once said. We were talking about how he married Tanya. He said, “How did it happen? Well, I went out to buy some yogurt and came back three years later to get my stuff.” That’s very much in Vladik’s nature. He was a playboy in a good sense of the word: he liked having a drink with people; he really loved women, and they loved him back. He was very easygoing. He wasn’t just easy to get along with socially, but easy to work with, too. Everything that he accomplished in Field of Miracles, Theme, and Rush Hour10 was done absolutely effortlessly. Needless to say, he was well trained by the counterpropaganda system, because Foreign Broadcasting is in fact counterpropaganda. He was an absolute natural. He didn’t have to force himself to put on a smile—he was a born showman.  

			
				10 Titles of Vladislav Listyev’s television programs.

			

			Like any news reporter, he was interested in whatever was the hottest, the most up to the minute, and the most taboo. In this area, he and Sashka were in fairly fierce competition with each other.  Meanwhile, I was always trying to figure out what the consequences were going to be for us, to make sure that our heads wouldn’t get completely chopped off. I knew that there was no stopping them, so I tried to figure out what to do to keep the authorities from shutting us down, which happened frequently. It happened, for instance, if you showed footage of military shovels used in Tbilisi, or showed the Baltics minus the shovels but with batons,11 or showed a party bureaucrat who forced a woman to have sex in exchange for an apartment. You get the picture. That last piece, strangely enough, cost us more grief than the Tbilisi story, for one reason: we did the Tbilisi story completely covertly, while in the case of the party functionary we attempted to clear the story with our bosses. It was a direct affront to the Party, you see!

			
				11 Reference to shocking footage of Soviet police bludgeoning demonstrators with small military shovels and batons in Tbilisi, Georgia (April 1989) and the Baltic Protest (August 1989). 

			

			We spent time together away from work, of course. Very often meetings to discuss the show were held at my apartment, because Vladik lived with his wife, two children, and in-laws in a two-bedroom apartment. Sashka lived in a communal apartment and was extremely proud of his independence and self-sufficiency. Meanwhile, I lived with my father, my mother, and my wife, but my apartment was practically always empty, because both my father and my wife worked. We could sit around and comfortably discuss our plans for the show. Since Liubimov was a bachelor, he’d be in charge of the food shopping. 

			Naturally, when the show aired, it brought fame. We were in high demand: we got piles of invitations to go to all kinds of places, enough to fill suitcases. For me, the best way to spend time—then and now—was hiding somewhere in the corner with a book, but Vladik loved going to parties. He was an avid partygoer by nature and a perpetual toastmaster. He was always out with someone or hanging out somewhere. This would cause problems from time to time. Sometimes he’d disappear for a week or two. These weren’t “benders,” in a drinking sense. It simply meant that he’d found some fun people, and then he’d just go on to the next gathering. He’d go to an art exhibition and there’d be people hanging out afterwards. Then he’d go on to see some new piece of theatre, then off to someplace else. It seemed like he was friends with half of Moscow.

			His wife endured it stoically. As the wife of the famous composer Prokofiev used to say, “Three times a day you need to tell your husband, ‘You are a genius. You are a genius. You are a genius.’” Vladik’s wife realized that he was an extraordinary person. 

			As a human being, fame didn’t change him at all, but in terms of his ability to disappear for two weeks at a time, it did. Once it even got to the point that Lysenko, who is always calm and smiling, called him into his office and let him have it. I really can’t even picture Tolya doing this, but he tried to get through to Vladik that it might be a good idea to show up for work at least the day before the show was about to air. Of course, his behavior sometimes enraged me and Sashka. The work never stopped, and here we were, slaving away, while Vladik was nowhere to be found. In reality, it wasn’t that bad, and it didn’t happen that often.  

			I was the first one to leave the show. After the discovery of their remains, I made a documentary about the execution of the Tsar’s family by firing squad. So I started moving away from Vzglyad in order to make documentaries. That was the subjective reason. The objective reason was this: as soon as the first broadcasts of People’s Deputies Congresses were aired and shows like Music Ring appeared, our monopoly on music, whether Russian rock or Western music videos, ended. That was what had made Vzglyad exclusive, having inside information on breaking news, and the music. So we weren’t as important anymore and our conditions for survival became much more difficult. We didn’t want to sink to the level of “yellow press,” which is what we see on TV today and which abounded at the end of the nineties. I told the guys many times that the time for the project was running out. They saw it too, but letting go of their favorite toy was pretty hard for them.
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			After Vzglyad, Vladik’s first program was Field of Miracles. It was a highly successful project. Sashka was doing Red Square, because at that time wild horses couldn’t drag him away from politics, whereas he is utterly repulsed by it now. 

			Vladik began working on Rush Hour, which was successful. If anything, its brevity worked in its favor. You can only have two-hour discussions with absolutely extraordinary people. Larry King has an advantage: he deals with English speakers from any country or culture. Rush Hour, on the other hand, focused on talking heads who spoke only Russian. The people could be fascinating, or not that interesting; we all know that in Russia, the circuit of available personalities is limited. You can’t even invite the UN Secretary General, because he speaks English, and thirty minutes of simultaneous translation would drive just about anybody crazy. The language barrier created limitations. 

			Everything that Vladik did was highly successful. Basically, we don’t have a single authentic talk show on television at the moment. A talk show, in the real sense of the word, is a dialogue between the host and the studio audience, but when the audience basically simply acts as a bunch of extras, sitting there staring at the four or five guests—that’s not really a talk show, is it? A talk show is a tricky thing. It demands lightning-quick response from the host, absolute command of the situation, a fairly vast scope of knowledge, and broadmindedness. Unfortunately, as far as that kind of host goes, you can count them on one hand. If you’ve got a good product, it’s best not to reinvent the wheel: franchise it or make a Russian copy. Listyev’s programs were not franchises.  

			We spent time together after Vzglyad shut down, but not nearly as much as before, because everyone was playing in his own sandbox, so to speak. Vladik was absorbed by his shows; I was making documentaries and was practically living at the archives. Our interaction grew less frequent. It wasn’t a question of any conflict, as reported in the press. Life separated us, that’s all. I suspect that Vladik didn’t fully understand what kind of position he was put in. Most likely, the people who appointed him believed that he would be easy to manipulate, like a marionette. I can’t be entirely sure, because I observed the whole thing from a distance; I was already working for the RTR network by then. We were in contact from time to time, but not that often, perhaps once a month.  I probably saw him the week before he was killed. 

			I think that if he had expected anything to happen to him, he would have taken appropriate measures, because contrary to the popular opinion that our security agencies are totally inept, they are quite efficient, provided they have adequate notice. Most likely he believed that nobody would dare raise a hand against such a famous and popular person. It did come totally out of the blue. He failed to connect his job title and the power that went with it to the realities of our lives. 

			The basic underlying reason, I think, was his desire to implement the network’s monopoly on advertising placement. In a civilized society, that would have been reasonable, but not if you consider how out of control our business practices were at that point. At any rate, had it not been a question of money—and very large sums of money at that—nothing would have happened. I am convinced that everyone knew everything from the very beginning, but due to the political situation at the time of his death, nobody could do anything about it. Now it’s simply a matter of no one wanting to air dirty laundry. Most likely the person who ordered the hit is alive, while those who were directly involved in the killing have “passed on.” The chain is broken, and it’s impossible to point to the original architect. At least they didn’t come up with imaginary culprits, which has often been the case throughout our history. Since his death, only once did an investigator come to my parents’ apartment, where I hadn’t lived for ten years.

			Vladik could have done a lot of things. Unlike today’s TV hosts, he had a good head on his shoulders. He wouldn’t have needed someone yelling in his ear during an interview, “Vladik, say this, Vladik, say that!” He was well versed in the subject matter; he didn’t need anything explained to him. Nowadays, you’d be hard pressed to find that.  

			Survival and making ends meet are only possible if you play according to the rules. The question is, where is this business heading? How appropriate is the use of marketing by the leaders of the business, and how much lower than the lowest common denominator are they willing to sink?  Television makes money any way it can. There is no objective information, because the problems of one group of business tycoons clashing with another don’t affect ordinary people who haven’t been paid their salaries in months. 
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			Marina Gushchina

			Marina Gushchina is the widow of Yuri Soltys.

			The case was closed right away, in 1994; the investigation didn’t last very long, about three months. The investigators suggested performing an exhumation to see whether his nose was broken. I said, “Why do it? Will that change anything whatsoever in terms of the focus? Don’t do it.” There were no witnesses, no information. The postmortem report is perfunctory: the cause of death is listed simply as “toxicity.” 

			They found him on a train platform. His face was mutilated. There were four two-by-two gashes in his skull. He was covered in blood. Someone from Interfax arrived at the scene and couldn’t even identify him the first time around. On the sixth day they were planning to just bury him as an unidentified person; they had already dug a grave. And “toxicity” as the cause of death was offered so that they could close the case as soon as possible.  

			I knew that it was completely impossible to determine the real cause of death. It was late at night, and the train engineer was the only one who saw two silhouettes. He identified one of them as Yuri. There was very little information available. There was no opposition whatsoever from the investigators. It seemed that they weren’t doing anything at all, simply letting things be just as they were. At first, I could no longer ride the train. I’d see a potential assassin in everyone who surrounded me; that was really hard. What remained is fear for my kids, and I am a bit overprotective of them. I think they’ve developed a mistrust toward other people. All of this has left an imprint on our lives.  They are very sociable girls; they have gone everywhere by themselves since the age of ten or so. Still, they always call me to say where they are. Of course, they know why I’m anxious; they know that they must call, no matter what. 

			We lived in Hotkovo, which is on the Yaroslavl railroad line. He was found on the platform of the Stroitel station, which is twenty-two kilometers from Moscow. He was simply heading home; this was about 12:30 at night. They worked in shifts at Interfax. This was during the time of all the Party Congresses. Sometimes he would stay on to work the third shift. At ITAR-TASS, where he used to work before Interfax, he was doing investigative reporting, but at Interfax he was on the political information desk.

			He wasn’t a confrontational person at all. He was completely even-tempered and extremely kind. Whenever he went somewhere, he’d always have a book with him; he was always reading. He was a good, kind person. He was from a simple family. His mother first worked at a factory, then as a telephone operator. His father was a graphic designer; he had an art school education. He passed away very early, too. Yuri was an only child. He was born in Kishinev. He studied journalism after serving in the army. During the Soviet era, the best students were considered a “national resource” and were transferred to Moscow State University to do their third year there, and they came from all the Republics. There were three students transferred from Moldavia to Moscow State at that time. I was a student in the journalism department too, so we ended up in the same class. 

			He wanted to major in history, but then he went to work for a photo studio and started taking pictures. He was admitted to the department of journalism. He was still doing photography, but on his own; he took pictures and developed them himself. After he graduated he was assigned to the ITAR-TASS Office in Kishinev, and later he was able to move back to Moscow. He had a family and a child in Kishinev. His son from his first marriage is twenty-four now; he came to visit recently, and we all went to visit Yuri’s grave. He keeps in touch with the girls, and they telephone each other. And Yuri, too, kept in touch with his first family. Children meant everything to him. He loved his own kids, as well as other people’s. 

			He was a very loving father. From the time they were in diapers, every time he got paid he’d buy a book for each child. He was an amazing husband, too: he helped me out with everything, despite being so busy at work. He gave his work all his energy. Information was always the top priority. He felt proud when Interfax was the first to report a news story. 

			He had a huge library. He loved detective stories and thrillers, both foreign and Soviet. I used to say to him, “How can you possibly read these kinds of books on the train? Everything’s so frightening and horrible as is, and you are reading horror stories on top of that?” Work was the most important thing in his life, but he wouldn’t discuss it at home, despite the fact that both of us have a background in journalism. Instead, we spent all our free time with the kids. Our older daughter was born in 1990 and our younger daughter in 1992.
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			He had many friends, at work and everywhere else. Somebody was constantly over at our house, even though we had young children. There was this feeling that it was always bright and sunny, with lots of people around. He could maintain friendships, not just with the people he knew, but even with my girlfriends. I always found it amazing that they entrusted him, a man, with their personal secrets. 

			As for my own life, the fact that Interfax and the Journalist’s Union did not abandon me helps a lot, to this day. Meanwhile, the government somehow decided that the Interfax pension is considered to be a second source of employment and therefore needs to be taxed—that’s horrible. But I will be forever grateful to Interfax. We stay in touch. They will be paying the girls’ pensions until they reach eighteen. And the guys haven’t forgotten us: they call us and visit Yuri’s grave. Interfax gave me a large one-time benefit payment, plus the Glasnost Defense Fund helped out, too. That’s how I was able to buy an apartment and move to Moscow.    

			My older daughter, Anya, is about to graduate from high school and plans to attend university to study language and literature. My youngest daughter, Masha, is in the ninth grade. She is interested in applying to the journalism department, but we are all against it. Working on a serious story as a journalist is too scary. We are simply afraid for her life. 

			I tell them a lot about their father. Now that they are all grown up, they read everything there is to read online; they’ve searched the Internet and saved every one of the articles.

			I think he would be very upset about what’s happening in the media right now. He really felt that things like freedom of speech were fundamentally important. At the end of the eighties, we attended Yeltsin support rallies; we stayed on top of all the news and read everything. 
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			Sergey Safronov

			Sergey Safronov is editor in chief of Interfax News Agency and was a friend of Yuri Soltys.

			I started working at Interfax in 1990, and Yuri started there in 1991 or 1992. Interfax was created at the end of the eighties, at the offices of the former USSR Television and Radio Broadcasting System (Gosteleradio). Back then, the office was located on the old premises of Gosteleradio, but eventually the Agency was kicked out because of conflicts over property. Plus Interfax suddenly became a strong competitor: at the time it was the only independent news agency, and to this day it remains the only independent news agency. Yuri came to work for us from TASS, which was later renamed ITAR-TASS. He worked as an associate editor, and all the associate editors were assigned specific regions of the country to cover. One was assigned to Transcaucasia, another had Russia, someone else had Belorussia and Ukraine, etc.; I covered the Baltic states. Since Yuri was Moldavian, he was assigned to Moldavia. The associate editors were responsible for the final information conveyed to the consumer. Correspondents, press services, and sources call in, write, and deliver news. The issue editor processes the information, ensuring that it meets the agency’s standards. The editor in chief receives the information from the issue editor, and when needed, edits it. He signs off on the copy for each issue, and then the information appears on the feed. Yuri was the executive copy editor, one step below the editor in chief. He was responsible for receiving information from the source and then editing it. Apart from Moldavia, he had another area that he was in charge of—the Chief Prosecutor’s Office. He was a responsible man by nature, calm and reasonable, and working with the Prosecutor’s Office requires that one follow its protocol, not that of Interfax; it demands meticulous attention to detail. In case of an error, charges could be filed against the journalist and the Prosecutor’s Office could win the case. Our desks were next to each other. Sometimes we would stand in for each other and trade stories. He was diligent and scrupulous.

			I think he left TASS because Interfax was the first large independent news agency in the USSR. I think it was important to him that the information he gleaned was not chucked in the wastebasket, as was routine at Gosteleradio or TASS. He was probably interested in a new structure, new standards, better money; at that time we were paid more than journalists at state-run publications because our agency had foreign subscribers. We didn’t have budgeted salaries, as is the practice to this day at ITAR-TASS and RIA-Novosti.1

			
				1 A leading Russian international news agency.

			

			Work was difficult, because it was not done in an ordinary way. Our competitors had an established, well-oiled network of regional contacts at their disposal, whereas we didn’t have anything. Of course, in most cases, when we found ourselves under “pressure,” our superiors would make the final decisions. In the days of confrontation between Gorbachev and Yeltsin, we were, so to speak, on Yeltsin’s team. The notion of an independent Russia was always associated with Yeltsin’s name, while independent information was associated with Interfax. We would provide information that “Gorbachev’s team” withheld. Information is either there, or not, but if people tried to conceal certain information, we would report it. 

			Because this was rather delicate work, Yuri tried not to share any details regarding his contacts with the Chief Prosecutor’s Office. Some matters could be discussed, the ones that would eventually make it into the news feed, but we refrained from asking any questions. It was understood that some things should remain undisclosed, and yet he needed to know what they were so he could professionally present the information. He was never an unsociable person. He was always the life of the party, but that was an aspect of his work. 

			Yuri lived outside of Moscow, and that’s what probably led to his death. He’d often invite people to his place in Hotkovo. He had a beautiful young wife and two children. We were closely acquainted. We liked to spend time together, went out for a beer often, would stay late at parties. He had a lovely family. His wife, Marina, often came to parties at Interfax, and they’d go to the summer resort for the Agency staff together. In those days it was customary to get together in our spare time. Everyone was genuinely impressed by their relationship. I didn’t know his parents particularly well because they lived in Kishinev. Yuri’s kids often spent the summer in Kishinev to enjoy the sun and the fresh fruit and vegetables.
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			I found out about his death while at work. He hadn’t come home after leaving the day before, and his wife called early the next morning, trying to find out if he had stayed overnight at someone’s place. That happened occasionally—he lived so far away, sometimes he’d stay in town so he didn’t have to go home late at night and then come straight to work the next day. Everyone told her he’d left work and gone to the train station. The next day we involved our contacts in law enforcement and at the Ministry of the Interior. We had dealt with these people professionally. A few days later, his body was discovered. Someone from our office went to the morgue to identify it but was unable to do so; later, another group of people went and were able to make the identification. The cause of his death was never established, but the case was closed anyway. It was treated as an unsolved murder, a cold case. Naturally, we got personally involved in the investigation process. We were operating not only out of professional interest, but also out of a simple human urge to punish those responsible. It went on for a few months, but then things ground to a halt.

			In terms of pressure on the media since Putin came to power, we definitely experience that at the Agency. In the nineties it was easy to get in pretty much anywhere, even a closed facility, by flashing your press badge, but now it’s much more difficult. Under Putin, it’s become harder to corroborate news reports, especially news about the president himself. We use information released through his press service. Information about his family is now completely off limits. In other organizations, things have not really changed much. At the moment, I report on the defense sector; because the new minister of defense—who doesn’t have a military background—is just now getting acclimated at his job, information is very sparse. When Sergey Ivanov was Defense Minister, he was genuinely interested in providing as much information as possible in anticipation of the presidential elections. At the moment he’s silent about his presidential ambitions, but everyone understands that it’s a pregnant pause. There are no special reporting bans on particular politicians: we simply understand that publishing certain information will cause us more grief than it’s worth. If we start reporting more information about the opposition than, let’s say, about Vice Premier Ivanov, it’ll immediately be clear that we’ve gone too far, that we are involved in some sort of PR action on behalf of the opposition. Our reporting must be balanced. If there are two opinions on a given subject, we must present both sides. There must be a balance of political forces as well.

			When we report something controversial, it has to be fact-checked very carefully: first, so we don’t compromise our sources, and second, so we don’t compromise our Agency and our country. This law applies to everyone. It probably has become more difficult to obtain information. But if you, as the representative of the Agency, have already built a relationship with your source, you will self-impose certain limits on the types of information you choose to report, because you know you’re balancing on the edge. This is especially true if you write about organizations such as the FSB (Federal Security Service) or the Ministry of Defense. A journalist’s incompetence could result in a truly dreadful blunder. If a source tells you more than they should have told you, it’s up to you to decide whether or not to publish it. I can only speak for myself, but I know a great deal that I don’t choose to publish. It’s difficult to express in terms of a percentage, but I’d say about 10 percent of all information is left out, awaiting its proper moment.

			

			

			

		

	
		
			Richard Behar

			Russia is a war zone for investigative reporters, but it’s a different kind of war.  It’s not at all clear where the bullets are coming from.

			A source of mine, an FBI agent who served as the U.S. Embassy’s Legal Attaché in Moscow in the 1990s, says that in his experience there can be as many as ten layers between a hit man and the mastermind on a murder contract, and that weaving your way through even the first few layers is so difficult for law enforcement. Often the triggerman doesn’t even know who hired him, or why.  When I wrap my head around that, it’s almost like murder is laundered in Russia the way that money is laundered through the world’s tax havens—only there is no paper trail.

			Under Putin today, investigative reporting is virtually dead. Western news bureaus aren’t probing too deeply there either. The foreign editor of one major American newspaper told us they simply won’t do in-depth probes of Russian organized crime because they don’t want to put their own staffers at risk, and they need them there to cover other things. But with Russia awash in organized crime, that’s kind of like opening a bureau in a zoo and writing about everything except the animals.

			When we were launching Project Klebnikov, I asked a Russian journalist at a big Moscow newspaper for a shortlist of great Russian investigative reporters with whom we could work closely. She posed the question to her editor and then told me she was extremely distraught with his answer, so much so that it made her shudder. What he had said was that with Klebnikov’s murder, “the genre is dead.” I also met with Anna Politkovskaya, who was eager to assist us. And then she was killed, too.

			Last year I spent a week teaching journalism at a university in a southern Russian city. I asked the students to name the biggest problem their city faces. The response was unanimous: corruption, through and through, both political and economic. I then asked what they were going to do about it as journalists, and they stared at me in disbelief. It’s a subject they don’t want to touch.

			What we are trying to do with Project Klebnikov is shed light on the murder of Paul as well as other reporters and to inspire journalists to continue their work. One of our consultants, the legendary newsman Bob Greene, said that a message needs to be sent to the killers that when you fuck with the lives of reporters, you only multiply the work they were doing. You trigger an army of more reporters, and the work continues. But if you fail to send that message, then the murderer achieves his goals and proves that silencing the press is easy. And that puts even more reporters at risk in the future.

			I don’t even want to venture to guess how long this could take, especially in an era where in-depth investigative reporting—even in the U.S.—is in a decline. I’ll tell you one thing: when I started the project I told people, “I’m not going anywhere.” I’m in for the long haul. It could take a lifetime, and that’s fine. I’ve got a lifetime.
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			Please consider helping

			1. 	Committee to Protect Journalists (CPJ) 

				http://www.cpj.org/

			

			2. 	Project Klebnikov 

				http://www.projectklebnikov.org/

			

			3. 	Center for Journalism in Extreme Situations 

				http://www.cjes.ru/

			

			4. 	International News Safety Institute 

				http://www.newssafety.com/

			

			5. 	Glasnost Defense Fund 

				http://www.gdf.ru/home

			

			6. 	Johnson’s Russia List 

				http://russialist.org/
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ANNA POLITKOVSKAYA
Age: 48 years old

Killed: October 9, 2006
Journalist: Novaya Gazeta

Murder site: Lesanaya Ulitsa, 8/12, elevator shaft

Weapon: Plastic 9mm Makarov pistol

Reporting on: Chechen conflict

Status: Unsolved






OEBPS/image/ID_25BW_fmt.png





OEBPS/image/VL_50_fmt.png





OEBPS/image/AP_42_fmt.png





OEBPS/image/3741.jpg
Yeonion

PACHOXOHMCKY

2
i
te)
&
R
2

P,

2y @s

VLADISLAV LISTYEV

o 3
Age: 39 years old g\d
Killed: March 1,1995

Executive Director: Russian Public Television (ORT)
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Murder site: Novokuznetskaya Ulitsa, 2/30, entryway
Weapon: 7.65mm gun
Reporting on: Advertising corruption

Status: Unsolved
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...Imay be in the ground, but my lips are still moving. ..
—OsIP MANDELSTAM
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Alix Lambert
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IGOR DOMNIKOV

Age: 42 years old

Attacked: May 12, 2000; died July 16, 2000

Reporter and editor: Novaya Gazeta
Murder site: Ulitsa Pererva, 31, entryway
Weapon: Hammer

Reporting on: Oil industry corruption

Status: Unsolved
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Weapon: Unknown; beaten to death
Reporting on: Criminal underworld

YURI SOLTYS
Age: 35 years old
Killed: June 15, 1994
Status: Unsolved
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